CONCEPTUAL STUDY: SOLE TEACHING STRATEGY FOR ENGLISH LANGUAGE TEACHING AND LEARNING IN THE *"MERDEKA BELAJAR"* CONCEPT FOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS

(A Library Research Approach to understand the concept of SOLE and its compatibility in the Merdeka Belajar Concept)

A FINAL PROJECT

Presented as a Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements to Obtain the Sarjana Pendidikan Degree in English Language Education



Muhammad Anis 31801500589

ENGLISH LANGUAGE EDUCATION STUDY PROGRAM

COLLEGE OF LANGUAGES AND COMMUNICATION SCIENCES

SULTAN AGUNG ISLAMIC UNIVERSITY

SEMARANG

2021

APPROVAL

A Sarjana Pendidikan Final Project on

CONCEPTUAL STUDY: SOLE TEACHING STRATEGY FOR ENGLISH TEACHING AND LEARNING IN THE "*MERDEKA BELAJAR*" CONCEPT FOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS

(A Library Research Approach to understand the concept of SOLE and its compatibility in the Merdeka Belajar Concept)



VALIDATION

A Sarjana Pendidikan Final Project on CONCEPTUAL STUDY: SOLE TEACHING STRATEGY FOR ENGLISH TEACHING AND LEARNING IN THE "*MERDEKA BELAJAR*" CONCEPT FOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS

(A Library Research Approach to understand the concept of SOLE and its compatibility in the Merdeka Belajar Concept)

Prepared and Presented by

MUHAMMAD ANIS

31801500589

Defended and declared before the board examiners on 13th August, 2021

Acceptable Board of Examiners

Examiner 1 : Choiril Anwar, S.Pd., M.Pd.

Examiner 2 : Kurniawan Yudhi N., S.Pd., M.Pd.

Examiner 3 : Nur Ekaningsih, S.Pd., M.Pd.,

Semarang, 13th August 2021

College of Languages and Communication Science



STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby declare that undergraduate final project I wrote does not contain the works or part of the works of other people except those were cited in the quotation and the references as a scientific paper should. If my statement is not valid in the future, I absolutely agree to accept an academic sanction in the form of revocation of my paper and my degree obtained from that paper.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Praise is given to Allah, the Lord of the world for His mercies and blessing, the writer finally could finish this final project. The writer would like to express his biggest gratitude and appreciation for people who have helped him in finishing his final project. The writer would like to say thank you to bellowing people:

- 1. Drs. H. Bedjo Santoso, M.T., Ph.D, as the Rector of Sultan Agung Islamic University.
- Kurniawan Yudhi Nugroho, S.Pd., M.Pd, as the Dean of College of Language and Communication Science, Sultan Agung Islamic University.
- 3. Mubarok, M.Si, as the faculty Secretary of College of Language and Communication Science, Sultan Agung Islamic University.
- Elok Widyati, S.Pd., M.Pd, as the head of the English Education Department of College of Language and Communication Science, Sultan Agung Islamic University.
- 5. Choiril Anwar, S.Pd., M.Pd, as the researcher's final project supervisor, for the guidance and patience during the completion of this final project.
- 6. Mega Mulianing, S.Pd., M.Pd as the researcher's lecturer supervisor, for the guidance and patience during the researcher's time in learning and developing in the College of Language and Communication Science, Sultan Agung Islamic University.

- 7. All lecturers and Staffs of the College of Language and Communication Science, Sultan Agung Islamic University who had been giving motivation, support, and precious knowledge to the researcher during his study at Sultan Agung Islamic University
- 8. All friends and families whom the researcher could not mention each and every one of them.



ΜΟΤΤΟ

"Indeed, my prayer, my rites of sacrifice, my living and my dying are for Allah, Lord of the worlds."

– Q.S. Al-An'am: 162 –

"For indeed, with hardship [will be] ease. Indeed, with hardship [will be] ease. So when you have finished [your duties], then stand up [for worship]. And to your Lord direct [your] longing."

-Q.S. Al-Inshirah: 5-8-

"Pertanyaan 'apa cita-citamu?' sering kita ajukan ke anak, tetapi kita lupa saat gurunya tidak punya cita-cita, bagaimana anak bisa meraih bintang nan jauh di

sana?"

– Najelaa Shihab –

"The illiterate of the 21st century will not be those who cannot read and write, but those who cannot learn, unlearn, and relearn."

- Alvin Toffler (Toffler, 1970) -

مارد DEDICATION /

5

This final project is dedicated to all of my beloved people which has supported and motivated me in completing this final project and for those who are involved in creating me into who I am right now.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

APPROVAL			
TABLE OF CONTENTS			
INTRODUCTION			
1.1 Background of the Study 10			
1.2 Reasons for Choosing the Topic			
1.3 Research Question			
1.4 Objective of the Study			
1.5 Significance of the Study			
1.6 Definition of Key Terms 16			
1.7 Limitation of the Study			
1.8 Organization of the Study			
REVIEW OF THE RELATED LITERATURE			
2.1 English as a Lingua Franca			
2.2 English Language Teaching (ELT) in Indonesia			
2.3 Self-Organized Learning Environment (SOLE)			
2.4 Review of the Previous Studies			
2.5.1. The Hole-in-the-Wall Experiment			
2.5.2. Self-Organized Learning			
2.5.3. SOLE and ELT			
RESEARCH METHOD			
3.1 Research Design 41			
3.2 Type of the Research			
3.3 Data Source			
3.3.1 Data			
3.3.2 Types of Data			
1. Primary Data			
2. Secondary Data			
3.4 The Data Collection Technique			
 3.4 The Data Collection Technique			
-			
a. Reading the literary resources			

3.5	Analyzing the Data	47	
FIND	INGS AND DISCUSSION	48	
4.1	SOLE Teaching Strategy	48	
4.2	Merdeka Belajar	50	
4.3	Motivation in Language Learning	61	
CONC	CLUSION AND SUGGESTION	65	
5.1	Conclusion	65	
5.2	Suggestion	65	
REFE	REFERENCES		



CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Chapter I presents the introduction of the study which consists of the Background of the Study, Reasons for Choosing the Topic, Objective of the study, The Significance of the Study, the Definition of Key Terms, the Limitation of the Study, and the Organization of the Research Report.

1.1 Background of the Study

The problem with today's education system is that it has already been standardized, rigid, and it has not been effectively in preparing individuals for the competencies of the future nor the current status quo. Big companies such as Cisco, Intel and Microsoft are concerned with the graduates that are entering the workforce with the skills that did not prepare them for employment in the digital age (Patrick Griffin & Care, 2015). Moreover, modern artificial intelligence has become extremely sophisticated that it has already automated the manufacturing industry and now it is slowly taking over the services industry (Autor & Salomons, 2018; Bartodziej, 2017; Frey & Osborne, 2013). It is a matter of time where labor work or even services could be replaced by algorithms. In addition to that, Andrew Wycoff (the director of OECD's directorate for science, technology and innovation) and Karine Perset (Economist in OECD's digital economy policy division) has stated in a report from the Pew Research Center (2018) that in less than twelve years from now, disruptions are happening in every sectors of all major industries due to automation. To be able to constantly develop and evolve the way we perform will help anticipate the problems and disruptions that will arise in the future. Therefore, identifying the skills of the future is pertinent for people to sustain in the present and the future. Researchers defined the skills for the future as the 21st Century Skills. These skills comprises of the life and career skills; information, media and technology skills; and the learning and innovation skills. These skills are defined, identified and formulated from a collective result of surveys conducted by various organizations in companies and institutions to find out the demand of skills that are needed for the future (Dede, 2009; Patrick Griffin, Care, & McGaw, 2012; Larson & Miller, 2011; Rotherham & Willingham, 2010; Silva, 2009).

From the explanation above, the mismatch between the work and life condition with the education taught in schools are not relevant to this time and thus it is costing the efficiency of time and energy for companies or individuals to adapt to the current status quo. Therefore, there is an urgency to improve the quality of education to be able to cater the needs and demand of the current industry as well as the future. With the exponential pace of innovation in sciences and technology, and if what the students are learning is obsolete, it may not help them to develop and keep up with the current times quickly. And thus, there will be a generation that is left behind in the development of the industry. This could pose a major threat towards a nation's economic development that there will be many young generations who are unable to have a role nor the capabilities to cope with the current times and to realize their dream and passion for the future. This is related to Mitra's (2014) statement that it is the development of the needs in the industries that changes the way of schooling. Therefore new teaching strategies should be formulated to get the students to anticipate for the real-life experience in the present time as well as the future. This study is based upon the concern of the education system that could jeopardize the future generations and create future economic and social problems in Indonesia. In order to tackle this problem, mitigation and anticipation is paramount to reduce the negative impacts and to deduce plans on tackling possible future problems. Therefore, Indonesia made a new initiative to tackle on the issue of the future and present employment as well as problems that might arise in the future by fixing the mindset of the teachers and the schools through the *Merdeka Belajar* concept in Indonesia's education system.

The practice of *Merdeka Belajar* by Najelaa Shihab and the Teachers Learning Community (*Komunitas Guru Belajar*) has claimed to increase students' motivation in learning (Shihab & *Komunitas Guru Belajar*, 2017). The implementation of *Merdeka Belajar* can be useful in the English Language Teaching (ELT) as a means of an approach to improve the students' motivation in learning the English Language. Therefore, the author wishes to highlight the *Merdeka Belajar* Concept advocated by Najelaa Shihab – as the conceiver of this idea in an educator's perspective – to be brought into a conceptual study on how this concept could be implemented into the SOLE teaching strategy in English Language Teaching (ELT) for high school students in Indonesia.

The problem with ELT in Indonesia is that it is not proliferating enough to keep up with the speed of globalization and the development of economy, sciences and technology worldwide. English as a *lingua franca* has enforced many nations to adopt English as their second or foreign language to gain ease of access to international relations. The foreign language policy in Indonesia decided to make English as a Foreign Language and therefore it is rarely seen in the spectrum of the society. Government officials therefore operate in *Bahasa Indonesia* for national official meetings or operations and their regional vernaculars for regional operations. Meanwhile, English is used as a medium for international communication. Unlike the countries that adopt the English as their second language, where English is applied for official and institutional capacity (Lauder, 2008). As this application of English as a foreign language in Indonesia is the preferred language approach of communication, it is natural to perceive that it is not being used on a regular daily basis. There are also cultural construct that hampers the learning of the English Language within the society which have engraved into the learners mind. The Indonesian society glorifies *Bahasa Indonesia* more than other languages which slowly diminishes their motivation in learning the English Language. There are also notions where learning the English Language would slowly erase their cultural identity (Lauder, 2008).

Here, the author suggests an alternative solution in tackling the problem of English language education in Indonesia to prepare the students for the present and the future. Specifically in suggesting a different approach to English Language Teaching (ELT) through the Self-Organized Learning Environment (SOLE) Teaching Strategy for Indonesian students. The concept of SOLE has successfully been experimented in India for years by the developer of this idea, Sugata Mitra, and has ensued in positive results in academic achievements, English Pronunciation, Education objectives and self-organizing behavior (Mitra, Kulkarni, & Stanfield, 2016). This then led Sugata Mitra to be entitled as the Innovator of Education and the TED Prize Winner (TED, 2013).

1.2 Reasons for Choosing the Topic

The reasons underlying the researcher to conduct the research of this topic are as follows:

- 1. The researcher is intrigued with the idea of the SOLE Teaching Strategy and the opportunities that this SOLE Teaching Strategy could offer in improving the quality of education in Indonesia.
- 2. The problems of ELT in Indonesia still need more work and experimentations as well as ideas and concepts to improve the quality of teaching and learning of the English Language.
- 3. The perceptions and popularity of *Merdeka Belajar* has moved the researcher to further understand this concept and to erase misconceptions in the society.
- 4. The researcher is very keen in knowing on how education would represent in the future.

1.3 Research Question

The purpose of the study is to find out the answers of the following questions:

- 1. What is SOLE teaching strategy in accordance with the concept of *Merdeka Belajar*?
- 2. How is SOLE teaching strategy applied in the English Language Teaching and Learning for high school students?

1.4 Objective of the Study

The objective of the study is to find out the idea and innovation behind *Merdeka Belajar* and its relevance with the SOLE Teaching Strategy for English Language Teaching and Learning in the "*Merdeka Belajar*" Concept for High School Students. The objective of the study are as follow:

- 1. To explain the definition of the SOLE Teaching Strategy in accordance with the concept of *Merdeka Belajar*.
- 2. To explain how the SOLE Teaching Strategy can be applied in the English Language Teaching and Learning context for high school students.

1.5 Significance of the Study

Discussions about new concepts and ideas on education and pedagogy could help bring teachers or educators the opportunity to improve their approach on education and how they could experiment different ideas or teaching approaches to suit the education needs in the dynamic society. The result of the study will hopefully be beneficial to:

1. Researchers

The result of the study could serve as an information to benefit future research on *Merdeka Belajar* and SOLE Teaching Strategy, especially in Indonesia, as a reflection towards the education system to improve its education ecosystem and research.

2. Teachers

The result of this study could serve as an information for the teachers about *Merdeka Belajar* and SOLE by understanding its concept and background as a reflection towards alternative teaching approaches that are available and feasible to be implemented in their ELT.

3. Students

The result of this study could serve as an information for the students to better understand *Merdeka Belajar* and SOLE for their academic purposes.

4. Readers

The result of this study could serve as an information which the readers need to educate themselves and understand the perspectives of SOLE and *Merdeka Belajar* as well as the problems of ELT in Indonesia.

1.6 Definition of Key Terms

There are several key terms to be defined in this study such as:

1. SOLE (Self-Organized Learning Environment)

Self-Organized Learning Environment is a program conceptualized by Sugata Mitra to support self-directed education. SOLE was first conceptualized following the success of Sugata Mitra's Hole-in-the-Wall (HITW) experiments. His experiments demonstrated that groups of children are able to learn to navigate computers and the internet by themselves. Upon Sugata Mitra's startling conclusion that groups of children, with access to the internet, can learn almost anything by themselves, research since then has continued to support this idea (Mitra, 2012).

2. Merdeka Belajar

Merdeka Belajar or Freedom in Learning or Freedom to Learn is a concept where an individual is free to learn without any external entities inhibiting their willingness to learn. The main idea of *Merdeka Belajar* is to allow teachers and students to learn together without any interventions of outside entities where the learners are free to learn and the teachers have the freedom to teach to accommodate the different personalities and abilities of the children (Rogers, 1969; Shihab & *Komunitas Guru Belajar*, 2017).

3. ELT (English Language Teaching)

English Language Teaching is an activity or an industry of teaching English Language to those whose English is of a foreign/second /additional language, whereas the professional organization that supports and advocates for ELT calls itself *Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages* (TESOL) (Cenoz & Gorter, 2013; Cummins & Davison, 2007; Khansir, 2013).

1.7 Limitation of the Study

Following the popularity of the discussion on *Merdeka Belajar* in Indonesia as well as its controversial issues surrounding it, there has been negative perceptions regarding this concept in the society and its way of penetration into the current education system. People often generalize *Merdeka Belajar* as an educational policy enforced by the newly appointed Minister of Education and Culture (MOEC), Nadiem Makarim, on 2019. However, the figure who coined the term *Merdeka Belajar* was Najeela Shihab since 2014 and has written a book on *Merdeka Belajar* entitled '*Merdeka Belajar di Ruang Kelas*' on 2017. This final project will be discussing the latter *Merdeka Belajar* as a concept that could facilitate the SOLE Teaching Strategy in ELT (English Language Teaching).

1.8 Organization of the Study

This final project is systematically organized into five different chapters, with each chapters explaining different points as follows:

- Chapter I provides the introduction that consists of these matters; the Background of the Study, the Reasons for Choosing the Topic, the Research Question, the Objective of the Study, the Significance of the Study, the Definition of Key Terms, the Limitation of the Study, and the Organization of the Study.
- 2. Chapter II discusses about the Reviews of the Related Literature that deals with several points which contain foundational theories underlying the study, mainly on *Merdeka Belajar*, SOLE and ELT in Indonesia.
- Chapter III contains the Research Method that is needed in conducting the research, which deals with the Types of Data, Data Organizing, and Analyzing the Data.
- 4. Chapter IV contains the Research Findings. It consists of the Findings and the Discussion.

 Chapter V is the last chapter. It consists of the Conclusion and the Suggestion.



CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF THE RELATED LITERATURE

Chapter II discusses the Review of the Related Literature which consists of the elaboration of several points underlying this study, which are; the Concept of *Merdeka Belajar*, Self-Organized Learning Environment (SOLE), English Language Teaching (ELT) in Indonesia, and Motivation in Language Learning.

2.1 English as a Lingua Franca

Since the twentieth century, English has become a global language and an undisputed *lingua franca*. Internationally, English has become the most important second language around the world. It is being used in many areas of interaction, such as in economy and technology; in arts and science; in tourism and sports. English has organically penetrated the global society and has naturally became an important means of international communication (Bieswanger, 2008). Therefore English Language education plays a huge role in the creation of young people who are open-minded and able to communicate in this globalized era.

It was since the 1919 that the English Language has officially became the *lingua franca* for international relations after the defeat of France and its allies in the First World War. Before this, diplomacy was intermediated through the French language. However, the Treaty of *Versailles* was written in both English and French which paved the way for English to be officially used as the language of diplomacy in international relations. Since then, after the Second World War in 1945, the United Nations was formed and chose English and French – the two working

languages – as the *lingua franca* as a means of communication between nations. Nevertheless, English was a much more preferred language as its popularity and use was much more massive in comparison to the French language. The British Imperial influence and the rising power of the United States of America, in economic and military power, in the 19th and the 20th century has been the foundation for the widely preferred use of English as the second or foreign language in other countries while carving the road towards globalization (Genç & Bada, 2010).

Nowadays, this globalized era has pushed some countries to implement English as their Second Language in their daily conversation. In Asia, for example, has several countries that has made English as their Second Language, such as; Malaysia, Singapore, Philippines, and India. While in Africa, the countries that has made the same change were; South Africa, Botswana, Gambia, Ghana, Cameroon, Kenya, and many others (Lauder, 2008). Even though English is spoken in almost every countries, there are a variety of forms of English that is spoken in the society of different backgrounds, nationality and ethnicity. It may be the accent, word pronunciation, or either the word forms. Despite that, the most popular varieties of English are British, American and Australian (Bieswanger, 2008; Prayogi, 2019). However, the implementation of the English Language in Indonesia is still scarce and rarely observed in the society. This is because Indonesia's language policy implements the English Language as a Foreign Language. Which means that only a minority of the citizens are able to communicate in English and it is not commonly used for daily conversation (Prayogi, 2019).

2.2 English Language Teaching (ELT) in Indonesia

The English Language has been taught in Indonesia since 1914 when the Junior High Schools were first established (Lauder, 2008). During those times, the language that proliferate were the Dutch Language. Lauder (2008) explained that even after the establishment of Senior High Schools in 1918, the literacy rate in Indonesia was a mere 6.4% in the 1930's. In 1940, there were only 37 Senior High Schools in the entire country. Furthermore, only the privileged class and the Dutch children were allowed to attend these schools. The privileged class of Indonesians that received this education from schools grew up knowing Dutch and perhaps a few English, because English was never taught to be used as a medium of communication. Moreover, during the Second World War, the Japanese prohibited the teaching of English with other languages and pushed the Japanese language into the country (Lauder, 2008).

After the defeat of Japan and the return of the Dutch, they attempted to continue with the curriculum they had previously used before the war. As a result, the school system experienced a major disruption during the war and in the four years of turmoil that followed. The political maneuver that enforces the colonized people to use the colonial language has caused restlessness in the Indonesian society and created a more determined and idealistic generation – with a quest for self-expression – who had struggled through the war years and proclaimed *Bahasa Indonesia* as the national language in the proclamation of *Sumpah Pemuda* in 1928, as well as their Independence in 1945. Since then, the language policy in Indonesia

to where currently English takes place in the third of the three main categories of the language role in the functioning system of the nation and in education; (1) *Bahasa Indonesia*, (2) the regional vernaculars, and (3) foreign languages (Lauder, 2008; Mappiasse & Bin Sihes, 2014).

After the independence of Indonesia, English was formally made as the "first foreign language" in Indonesia in a teacher trainer conference of 1955 upon the statement given by Mr. Wachendorff, as the first head of the *Central Inspectorate of English Language Instruction* in the Ministry of Education (Alwasilah, 2013; Lauder, 2008). This automatically erases the status of the Dutch Language as the spoken foreign language in Indonesia as it has been indoctrinate during the colonial times. In spite of that, the Dutch language was no longer a taught subject in schools since the declaration of the Indonesian Independence in 1945. The cause may be sentimental, but it was also due to the urgency of the English language as the *lingua franca* in most countries. It was because of the British Imperial massive expansion and their liberty to give the local people to earn an education, which made the English Language to be widely used in the Commonwealth countries. Furthermore, the development of technology, sciences and economy were flourishing in the Great Britain which sparked the first industrial revolution (Genç & Bada, 2010; More, 2000).

Today, English has become the main mode of communication for international affairs. The development of technology and sciences has been using English as the intermediate language to share knowledge and to produce journal articles or papers and to do business transactions internationally (Alwasilah, 2013; Cromer, 1991; Genç & Bada, 2010). Moreover, these past knowledge that were conversed in English are becoming the main reference for modern research that has been scaffolded along the years. Therefore the crystallization of this modern civilization was built upon the English language around the world, even though it may be a collective result of the contribution of different nations (Cromer, 1991). This forces other countries to adapt English language in their Education curriculum to be globally competitive and contributive in the development of their economy, sciences and technology.

Holistically, the implication of the historical explanation above is already apparent regarding the foreign language position in Indonesia. English is the first foreign language in Indonesia and it is the most crucial language to acquire global knowledge and current information about the world. Therefore, Alwasilah (2013) stated that the study or learning of English has been enforced by the Indonesian law in 1989 Chapter IX Section 39 which mentions English as a compulsory subject to be taught since Grade 7 at a lower secondary level. Moreover, in the Primary level of education, English is allowed to be taught as a local content subject from Grade 4 which was enforced in the Government Regulation No. 060/U/1993 on 25th February 1993. In addition to that, English was also enforced in the Indonesian Law on Education in 1989, Chapter XI, Section 42, in Paragraph 2 which stated that English can be used as a medium of instruction to develop knowledge of a particular subject or vocational skill (Alwasilah, 2013). Therefore, the implication of English Language Teaching in Indonesia that has been enforced in the Indonesian Law as a compulsory subject in Foreign Language shows how crucial English Language is to a nation. By learning the English Language, it could give a nation the leverage to improve its Economic and Education sector, and at the same time improve its competitiveness at a global scale. However, ELT in EFL context in Indonesia is still not experiencing significant improvement.

The process of learning English as a Foreign Language (EFL) in Indonesia is not expecting significant improvement except for the fact that only major cities in Indonesia are experiencing the luxury in having a better quality education on English learning and more opportunities to use the English Language. Even with a better quality education on English Learning, the students who are able to acquire and use the English language are still scarce. This is due to the factors of the education and the cultural construct that are engraved into the learner's mind that Bahasa Indonesia is the best language (Lauder, 2008). According to Sulistivo (2015), some of the significant problems in EFL teaching in Indonesia are low teacher competence, low student motivation and low student competence to be able to communicate and use the English Language. This affects the learners' effort to acquire the language after learning the English Language in class. Lauder (2008) has also stated that the setbacks in the development of the English Language in Indonesia are because of the language schizophrenic society, which also influence educational policy makers. The notion of the society that one day learning the English language would slowly erase the cultural identity of Indonesia has caused many educational policy makers to not allow textbooks on EFL from abroad, and rather promote local English textbooks from local writers. Even though those rejected textbooks from abroad for learning EFL are well-written, widely-used, widely-tested, and from major publishers abroad (Lauder, 2008).

2.3 Self-Organized Learning Environment (SOLE)

Learning is no longer seen solely as a process of the transfer of knowledge from a teacher to the students. Learning is making experience while personally constructing meaning through interactions. It is the teachers who helps the students to learn by providing necessary knowledge, facilities and conditions that support them in order to build concepts and understanding of the topic independently and actively (Esteban & Peart, 2014).

SOLE is a concept which was developed by Sugata Mitra and the researchers at the SOLE Centre in Newcastle University. This concept was initially based upon Sugata Mitra's Hole-in-the-Wall project where he experimented the impact of a free-to-use computer, connected to the internet, which is embedded into a wall in a village with a height where it will be convenient to use by 8-13 year olds. In this experiment, which was conducted for more than 5 years in India, native Indian children are able to operate a computer, which operates in English, in a short amount of time whilst learning the English language. This experiment was conducted in the rural villages of India which resulted in a significant improvement on the children's academic achievement. Some of the results of the following research are from several different studies quoted by Mitra et al., (2005).

The teacher's role as a facilitator will only observe and supervises the students in the learning process. The students are encouraged to work together to

answer questions using the internet. During the process, the students will be preoccupied by self-discovery, sharing their knowledge in a community, and spontaneity in what Mitra (2012) explained as 'learning in the edge of chaos'.

The introduction of SOLE in India's rural villages improved the comprehension of the children's English language. The children explored the device provided by Sugata Mitra in his Hole-in-the-Wall project as a mystery device that performs magnificent tricks which intrigued the student's curiosity. The students were also trying to control the chaotic learning environment where all of the children wanted to try the little device while trying to solve the question given by Mitra (2014) himself. This type of engagement proved to be effective to activate the learning mode of the students through this project.

Upon these significant improvement, there is a possibility to implement the SOLE concept in Indonesia to shift its teaching paradigm from a teacher-centered learning towards a student-centered learning effectively. Since modern day technology is becoming more accessible, it would benefit the children of the rural areas in Indonesia to positively explore the encyclopedia of knowledge from the internet in a regulated manner that is facilitated by a teacher. The process of teaching and learning in this SOLE concept can be applied as a teaching approach to commodify the theoretical knowledge into a learning experience in the field of English Language Teaching. Through this approach, the learners will be immersed into the problem at hand with access to the sea of information in the internet - that is relevant to the subject - to solve that problem. Thus, the learners are directly engaged and exposed towards resources in English and try to break the language

barrier. This can increase the children's immersive engagement in technologies as a learning media for their investment in the future.

It has been a norm in assuming that children needs major guidance from an adult. However, today there has been a paradigm shift in learning. Learning is no longer seen solely as a process of the transfer of knowledge from a teacher to the students. It is much more than that. Learning is making experience while personally constructing meaning through interactions (Esteban & Peart, 2014; Panjwani, 2017; Sholichah, 2019). Nevertheless, it is the teachers who helps the students to learn by providing necessary knowledge, facilities and conditions that support them in order to build concepts and understanding of the topic independently and actively. Sugata Mitra has proven that children can teach themselves through his Hole-in-the-Wall project in India, which was presented in the 2013 TED Talk (Mitra, 2013). From his Hole-in-the-Wall (HITW) project, he formulated the Self-Organized Learning Environment (SOLE) concept which is integrated in his dream of building a School in the Cloud. His SOLE concept has given him the title as the Innovator of Education and the TED Prize winner (TED, 2013). This then inspired teachers around the globe to create their own SOLE sessions in their respective countries or districts as part of the teachers of the School in the Cloud project. The School in the Cloud is a learning and teaching platform that acts like an online school. This platform was launched at the 2014 TED conference with an objective to help accelerate the SOLE research globally to teachers or educators and share their teaching and learning experiences together.

SOLE is a concept which was developed by Sugata Mitra and the researchers at the SOLE Centre in Newcastle University. This concept was initially based upon Sugata Mitra's Hole-in-the-Wall (HITW) project where he experimented the impact of a free-to-use computer, connected to the internet, which is embedded into a wall in a village with a height where it will be convenient to use by 8-13 year olds. In this experiment, which was conducted for more than 5 years in India, native Indian children are able to operate a computer, which operates in English, in a short amount of time whilst learning the English language. This experiment was conducted in the rural villages of India which resulted in a significant improvement on the children's academic achievement. Some of the results of the following research are from several different studies quoted by Mitra et al. (2016) regarding the 'Hole-in-the-Wall' (HITW) experiment. The result of the first research was done by Mitra & Rana (2001) – and later on experimented by DeBoer (2009) – who found out that children can learn to use computers and the internet independently, regardless of the children's language and origins. Secondly, the results of the research by Inamdar & Kulkarni (2007) proved that children can achieve their educational objectives independently related to standard school examination in computer science and mathematics; improvement in English pronunciations (Mitra, James, Inamdar, & Dixon, 2003); and increase in school performance (Dangwal, Sharma, & Hazarika, 2014). Thirdly, children are able to show self-organizing behavior as a result of learning in a minimally invasive environment (Dangwal & Kapur, 2008). And finally, children can show understanding related to advanced content of knowledge that is far beyond the

expectations for groups of children aged from 8-13 years old (Inamdar, 2004; Mitra, 2012).

SOLE with its highly influenced Constructivism approach, this learning and teaching concept of letting the learners to take steer of their learning process gives them the ability to make meaning of the subject on their own. The teacher's role as a facilitator will only observe and supervises the students in the learning process. The students are encouraged to work together to answer questions using the internet. During the process, the students will be preoccupied by self-discovery, sharing their knowledge in a community, and spontaneity in what Sugata Mitra explained as 'learning in the edge of chaos' (Mitra, 2012). The introduction of SOLE in India's rural villages improved the comprehension of the children's English language. The children explored the contraption provided by Sugata Mitra in his Hole-in-the-Wall (HITW) project as a mystery device that performs magnificent tricks which intrigued the student's curiosity. In doing so, the students were also trying to control the chaotic learning environment where all of the children wanted to try the little contraption while trying to solve the question given by Mitra himself (Mitra, 2014). This type of engagement proved to be effective to activate the learning mode of the students through this project.

Upon the significant improvement, there is a possibility to implement the SOLE concept in Indonesia to shift its teaching paradigm from a teacher-centered learning towards a student-centered learning effectively. Since modern day technology is becoming more accessible, it would benefit the children of the rural areas in Indonesia to positively explore the encyclopedia of knowledge from the

internet in a regulated manner that is facilitated by a teacher. The process of teaching and learning in this SOLE concept can be applied as a teaching approach to commodify the theoretical knowledge into a learning experience in the field of English Language Teaching (ELT). Through this approach, the learners will be immersed into the problem at hand with access to the sea of information in the internet – that is relevant to the subject – to solve that problem. Thus, the learners are directly engaged and exposed towards resources in English and try to break the language barrier. Moreover, this can increase the children's immersive engagement in technologies as a learning media for their investment in the future.

2.4 **Review of the Previous Studies**

Studies on SOLE in Indonesia are still scarce and they have only been in its early stages of research. There are only a few attainable records of the SOLE research in Indonesia. The only records of SOLE research in Indonesia that are attainable online were from UNNES conducted by Sholichah (2019) in her thesis and a journal article from Anis & Anwar (2020). However, SOLE research has already been conducted for more than 15 years in other parts of the world. The initial SOLE research was first conducted in India with the Hole-in-the-Wall (HITW) experiment by Professor Sugata Mitra and his colleague, Vivek Rana, since 1999 (Mitra & Rana, 2001). However, it was since 1988 that Sugata Mitra proposed the Hole-in-the-Wall (HITW) experiment in an annual conference of the All India Association for Educational Research (Mitra, 2012). The notion that children are unable to comprehend the complexity of the computer operations was inherent during those times, and children who were able to operate computers are considered geniuses with talent.

2.5.1. The Hole-in-the-Wall Experiment

This Hole-in-the-Wall (HITW) experiment piqued Mitra's interest and continued researching until he found out the formula of the children's successes in learning with the computers. He found out that children's curiosity drives motivation and could cater learning and understanding in almost any knowledge from the intermediate level to a more complex level, in an environment with minimum adult intervention, with accessibility to the Internet (Mitra, 2000; Mitra et al., 2016; Mitra & Rana, 2001). Mitra (2000) then named this model as the Minimally Invasive Education, which later on gave birth to the SOLE (Self-Organized Learning Environment) System in teaching and learning.

Since the initial phase of conducting several research in the HITW experiments, the researchers conducted the experiment by leaving a computer kiosk (a computer embedded in a wall) at a designated place and invited children to use the computer for several months, unsupervised. The children would later on be tested to see the results after having being exposed to the internet and freedom to access the computer. In a span of about 5 years after the experiments have been carried out, the researchers discovered the following findings: Firstly, children can learn to use computers and the internet by themselves, regardless of their background, habitat and the native language that they speak (DeBoer, 2009; Mitra, 2005; Mitra et al., 2005). Secondly, children are able to achieve the school's educational objectives by themselves in standard school examinations in computer

science and mathematics (Inamdar & Kulkarni, 2007), improve their English pronunciation (Mitra et al., 2003), and improve their overall school achievements (Dangwal et al., 2014; Dangwal & Thounaojam, 2011). Thirdly, children are able to display a self-organizing behavior from the result of learning in a 'minimally invasive' environment (Dangwal & Kapur, 2008) and understood contents that were beyond the years expected for their age group (Inamdar, 2004; Mitra, 2012).

Mitra & Dangwal (2010) tested groups of native Tamil speaking children in the rural village of Kalikuppam (Southern India) to see if they could grasp the basic concepts of molecular biology on their own in English. The materials were downloaded into the computer kiosk and the experimental subjects were 34 randomly picked children (from the rural village) of the age 10-14 years (grade 5, 6, 7 or 8), while the control group were school children from the urban elites of the same age as the experimental group. After pre and post testing, the researchers concluded that children from rural areas with poor sanitation and low quality education (experimental group) could reach the levels of education of that children in the urban elites with a higher quality education and better living conditions (control group) if they were given the leverage and freedom to learn in a minimally invasive environment with computers and encouragements from the mediators (grandmother's method) (Mitra & Dangwal, 2010).

2.5.2. Self-Organized Learning

Upon these achievements, Mitra & Crawley (2014) continued the experiment to test the effectiveness of the SOLE system in a classroom context. The results are similar to previous studies and children enjoyed the 'SOLE Sessions'

even though it could get chaotic and loud with the discussions (Mitra & Crawley, 2014). More researchers are then fascinated to research the SOLE system in hopes to discover potential results to improve teaching and learning in schools of the 21st century. Especially with the huge disadvantage that most graduates experience after getting an education. The transition towards the 4th Industrial Revolution has led many graduates to be unemployed and many employers experiencing dissatisfaction towards millennials entering the workforce (Anderson, 2014; Griffin & Care, 2015). The demand of the 21st century skills has pushed some researchers to test the SOLE system to verify its effectiveness and its relevance in different nations and in teaching and learning of different subjects or contexts.

Weisblat, Stiles, & McClellan (2019) has researched the effectiveness of SOLE in a classroom context since 2017. The research was based upon the literature study on SOLE and its disruptive-innovative traits which offers a promising way to engage the 21st century learners (Weisblat & McClellan, 2017). Weisblat et al. (2019) studied the implementation and effects of SOLE on students and teachers in five schools and one STEM-focused after school program. Over 500 SOLE groups in about 100 classrooms were tested and observed. The teachers were invited in a focus group discussion regarding the SOLE method and its implementations in different contexts. The teachers were surveyed and the school administrators were interviewed to identify their perspective on the implementation of SOLE. After 2 years of experiments, students were becoming more critical and they were able to create their own SOLE questions in a non-SOLE lesson when they are struck with a problem.

During the researcher's observations, student's participation in learning has become more intensive with 90% of students speaking at least once during a fiveminute observation period. The researchers' observations indicated that the students, after having SOLE sessions, have a greater ability to go deeper into a topic, elicit peer interest, build upon previous knowledge, exhibit self-reflection, and engage in individual and collective meta-cognition. On the other hand, the teachers initially face contradictions where they are wrestling with the habit of exerting more control in the classroom. However, they started to be able to let go after having seen what SOLE has done and witnessed the ability of the students to take control of their learning with enthusiasm as well as improvements in academics, social, and selfmanagement skills (Weisblat et al., 2019).

The researchers concluded that technology challenges can present hurdles in the 21st-century classroom for SOLE. Sometimes the reliance on technology can result in a failed SOLE session. Secondly, helping students learn to navigate appropriate sites is a critical skill that teachers must learn in preparation for SOLE activities. Finally, SOLE is most effective when used in a metered dose, such as once a week. Other innovative techniques, such as flipped classrooms and personalized learning, would complement this approach (Weisblat et al., 2019).

The recent study of SOLE in Indonesia is a thesis from Sholichah (2019) to identify the behaviors of the students in how they complete their classwork or tasks in the SOLE learning environment. Sholichah (2019) applied a qualitative research method with a case study approach where the researcher collects data, take meaning, and gain an understanding of the case that is being studied. The researcher started the research with the problem formulation. During this stage, the researcher review the study that will be researched, observe and carry out deeper exploration, and explore problems that exist in the current study. The next stage of the research was to formulate research objectives. Formulating the research objectives is needed to clarify the research framework, namely about what will be the target of the research.

The purpose of Sholichah's (2019) study was to describe and analyze the completion of students' tasks during the self-organized learning environment (SOLE) material of the human respiratory system in grade 8-H at the State Junior High School 9 Semarang. After that, the researcher conducted a literature review to identify the methods used to resolve the research problem, as well as collecting strong references for the researcher to be applied in the current research method. Data and information on the teaching and learning activities and task completion using the SOLE learning method were collected through interviews, observation and documentation (Sholichah, 2019).

After the data is obtained, the next step is to carry out the analysis process. The analysis aims to transform the research data into information that can be used to draw conclusions. The data from the research results are in the form of interview transcripts, observations, field notes and documentation of the implementation of learning using the SOLE learning method. The data that has been analyzed will then be concluded. The result that can be concluded from the study is that (1) the students can find their own conclusions based on observations; (2) the students are able to build their own knowledge and investigations through group discussions and studying the learning resources. Independent discoveries made by these students
can be categorized as discovery learning that is important in the K-13 Curriculum (Sholichah, 2019).

From Sholichah's thesis, we can understand that SOLE can be experimented and implemented into Indonesia's K-13 curriculum. In the era of Merdeka Belajar Policy, where Schools are given the freedom to design their own curriculum as a decentralized education system by the government, it has become more apparent to experiment this SOLE Teaching and Learning method as an opportunity to improve the quality of the school graduates. Moreover, being exposed to English through SOLE can push the learners to be proactive in applying the language. Hence, creating an English speaking environment among the students and erasing the language barriers that inhibits second language input (exposure) (Khan, 2012). An environment where the students are free to actively use the language to solve the problem or question at hand.

The more recent study of SOLE is from an article by Anis & Anwar (2020) where they discussed the relevance of Merdeka Belajar and SOLE in building a strong character for students to be able to learn optimally. The article also explained how Merdeka Belajar and SOLE could help build a strong character in students like high self-confidence, independence, freedom in learning and responsiveness to their surrounding environment. These traits of a strong character in students are very essential in acquiring knowledge since these traits are found in high achieving students (Lymperis, 2019).

2.5.3. SOLE and ELT

Stanfield & Unlu (2016) has researched the SOLE System and its relevance with ELT in a pilot study conducted at the International House in London. The aim of this pilot study was to verify if SOLE could cater the development of the 21st century skills and to identify if there are any potentials in SOLE to help adults to learn English as a Foreign Language (EFL). The research was a response towards negative sentiments and criticisms upon Sugata Mitra's keynote speech in the IATEFL (International Association of Teachers of English as a Foreign Language) conference in Harrogate on April 2014. The SOLE research in EFL focus-context has not been done before and this has caused several dissatisfaction in the audience at the conference. The pilot study conducted in the International House in London was the first to focus on ELT in the EFL context by using SOLE teaching method (Stanfield & Unlu, 2016). The test subjects were 18 adult volunteers who are living and working in London with a pre-intermediate level of English proficiency (A2) according to the CEFR (Common European Framework of Reference) benchmark. The result of the pilot study was that the adults with low English competency were able to improve their pronunciation and English fluency because of the SOLE environment. The findings of this pilot study also identified that the students were less anxious when they were carrying out the SOLE session with minimum supervision. Although there are several developments in the field of ELT in EFL context with the SOLE method, there are still holes and in need for further research to identify what causes the process of learning and its succession in improving confidence and fluency over a period of time, as well as looking into the potential

of peer assessment within the SOLE environment (Stanfield & Unlu, 2016). Stanfield & Unlu (2016) also suggested that there should be further research on the impacts of SOLE on the teachers practice in the classroom and their attitudes to teaching in general.

Lymperis (2019) conducted a research on SOLE to test its appropriateness and effectiveness on the EFL context as an alternative pedagogical approach. After witnessing SOLE as a new learning model that still have more room for research and improvements as well as potentially effectual, Lymperis (2019) offered SOLE as an alternative solution to the declining number of teachers due to the severe sovereign debt crisis since 2010. According to Lymperis (2019), there has been no systematic quantitative evaluation in SOLE research in EFL context. Therefore, Lymperis (2019) researched its effectiveness and appropriateness through a quasiexperimental method where a pre-test and post-test are conducted and measured it in the three language skills pertaining to the study (listening, Speaking and Writing) over a period of three months (one school term) with accordance to the CEFR benchmark. Lymperis (2019) also involved observational data from video recordings and live sessions with a total amount of 64 hours.

The researcher used purposive sampling where approximately 34 primary school students (Years 1-6) in villages or rural areas in Greece in which English is not currently taught due to the lack of teachers and English as its non-medium of instruction. The schools in the rural areas where the research is conducted has also been through the process of selection where technological equipment used to conduct the research is available, as well as the low number of teachers teaching English in the school. The research findings concluded that the students were able to show self-evaluation and self-improvement where such competencies have often been linked with a high sense of self-efficacy and academic success. During the research observations, there are often instances where the students develop social-affective skills where the students are more proactive in help-seeking as they progress through the program since the beginning of the intervention, including knowing which peer to turn to depending on the kind of problem. The students also exhibit self-regulatory traits as this is usually linked to behaviors that are oriented to attaining goals. More precisely, Zimmerman (2002) in Lymperis (2019) stated that self-directed processes can transform the students' mental abilities into academic skills. These social-affective and self-regulation skills are pertinent in improving English learning and motivation to achieve better in academics.



CHAPTER III

RESEARCH METHOD

Research method is the method used in a research to collect, arrange, classify, analyze and interpret the data to solve the problem. The research method in this study is divided into three parts: types of the data, data organizing and analyzing the data. This research discusses these methodologies as follows.

3.1 Research Design

The research design of this study uses a qualitative approach, by emphasizing the comparative analysis of the inference process and the analysis of the dynamics of the relationship of the observed phenomena using scientific logic. Qualitative research is an approach that produces descriptive data in the form of written words from the subject being observed that are not translated into terms used in quantitative research (Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2014).

The qualitative research method, as a research design, has ten indicators/characteristics (Raco, 2010).

- 1. The data source is a normal situation or natural setting.
- 2. Highly descriptive.
- Concerned with processes and products, therefore it pays more attention to how things happen/develop.
- 4. Searching for the meaning behind behaviors or actions in order to understand the problem or situation.
- 5. Prioritizing direct or first-hand data.

- 6. Accentuate contextual details.
- 7. Prioritizing emic perspective.
- 8. Participation without intrusion/intervention.
- 9. Inductive
- 10. Flexible

Creswell (2014) in Maula (2020) used Denzin and Lincoln's definition of the qualitative research approach. According to them, qualitative research is a naturalistic interpretive approach to the world. This shows that qualitative researchers will study objects in their natural environment, trying to understand or interpret phenomena in terms of the meanings given by society to the researcher.

According to Burns (2000) in Maula (2020), in terms of assumptions and purpose of a qualitative research approach, it can be explained through the following table:

Approach	Assumptions	Purpose
Qualitative	Reality socially constructed	<i>Interpretation</i>
	Events viewed from informant's perspective	Understanding the perspectives of others
	Dynamic quality of life	

Table 1. Assumption and Purpose of a Qualitative Research

The table above explains that qualitative research approach are assumed to be inclined towards a subjective point of view where the reality is socially constructed and events are viewed from the informant's perspective. However, the purpose of the qualitative research is to understand different point of views and perspective of others.

3.2 Type of the Research

The type of research in this study is qualitative because the data are presented descriptively. The research method used in this study is the library research method. This research aims to uncover the concept of Merdeka Belajar from Najeela Shihab's book and its compatibility with the SOLE concept in teaching and learning EFL to Indonesian High School Students.

Library research is a series of activities relating to methods of collecting literature data, reading and taking notes and processing only library collection materials without requiring field research (Khatibah, 2011). Ideally, a professional research uses a combination of library research and field research or both with an emphasis on either one. However, in examining the concept of *Merdeka Belajar* and SOLE, the author believes that it is more relevant to use the library research method. There are at least three reasons; first, because the research problem can only be answered through library research and vice versa, it is nearly impossible to expect the data from field research. Second, literature study is needed as a separate stage, namely during preliminary research to understand more deeply about a new phenomenon that is developing in the field or in the society. Third, the library data remains reliable to answer the research problems.

This research aims to understand the underlying suitability of different concepts on the teaching and learning context of EFL towards Indonesian high school students indirectly. Since concepts are generally a result of man ordering his experience (cognitive grouping) and an extremely important element of human learning, concepts are needed in order to design an experiment or as an initial discussion for advancements or dynamics of a study (Spitzer, 1975).

This research will present scientific reasoning from the result of the literature study and the result of the researcher's thought regarding the problem or topic of study. This research is supported by data obtained from library resources in the form of research journals, theses, research reports, textbooks, papers, seminar reports, scientific discussions, and so on. The library materials are discussed critically and deeply in order to support the discussion of the *Merdeka Belajar* concept and its suitability in the SOLE teaching and learning strategy in the EFL context for Indonesian high school students.

3.3 Data Source

3.3.1 Data

Data are facts and statistics that are collected and grouped together for reference or analysis. Data are also characteristics or information that are collected through observation (OECD, 2007). Data is the plural form of datum, derived from the Latin language which means 'something that is given'. In everyday use, data is a statement that is accepted for what it is as a result of measurement or observation of a variable which can be in the form of numbers, words, or images. However, in academic terms, data are treated as units of information.

3.3.2 Types of Data

The data collected in this study are in the form of words, phrases, sentences, or quotations from different resources. In this research, there are 2 data sources in which the researcher used to refer to. That is the Primary Data and the Secondary Data. The Primary Data are the data obtained directly from the original source of information either in the form of a book or literature containing scientific knowledge or new understanding of known facts. Meanwhile, the secondary data are data sources that cannot provide direct information to the data collectors. Secondary data are additional data that supports the primary data sources (Harahap, 2014; Salim & Syahrum, 2012). The data sources collected that are related to the study are as follows:

- 1. Primary Data
 - a. Shihab, N., & Komunitas Guru Belajar. (2017). Merdeka Belajar di Ruang Kelas. Tangerang Selatan: Literati & Kampus Guru Cikal.
 - **b.** Mitra, S. (2012). Beyond the Hole in the Wall: Discover the Power of Self-Organized Learning Kindle Edition. TED Books.

2. Secondary Data

a. The secondary data which involve the supporting data will be taken from books, e-books, e-journals, and sites that are related to the study.

3.4 The Data Collection Technique

The aims of this study is to become a reference for both proposal writing and final project. The researcher will try to organize the data as well as possible based on an apropriate research method. In collecting the data, there are several steps used as follows:

a. Reading the literary resources

The primary data resources were closely read for several times to gain a holistic understanding on the concept of *Merdeka Belajar* and SOLE as well as to get a deep understanding about the related topic of the study.

b. Identifying the data

After reading the primary data resources, the next step in collecting the data was identifying the data which was related to the topic. In this step, the identified data could be in the form of words, phrases, sentences, or quotations from the data resources.

c. Classifying the data

Classifying the data is a grouping process based on the problem formulation. It is a process in grouping the data based on the questions being raised. The data must be classified in order to ease the writer to answer the research questions. There are two research questions to be answered in this study. The writer classified the data based on the research question/problem formulation.

d. Reducing the data

The last step in the data collecting method is reducing the data. The data which do not have any correlation with the objective of the study are not used nor analyzed.

3.5 Analyzing the Data

The data will be analyzed using a technique in order to obtain a clear analysis of the study and to obtain a clear report of the data. The data analysis technique used in this study is the descriptive analysis technique. Descriptive analysis technique is a technique of analysis by describing every single detail of the object of the study in order to acquire a detailed analysis that is needed in this study (Elliott & Timulak, 2005; Miles et al., 2014; Octaviyanti, 2017).

The application in using this technique is by analyzing, explaining, and interpreting all of the data in the appendix in the form of description. Moreover, this study will report the results of the analysis by describing and explaining together with the related quotations from related resources. The complete analysis will be reported in chapter IV as the result of the study.

CHAPTER IV

FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

This chapter focuses on the analysis of the study on the SOLE Teaching Strategy for English Language Teaching and Learning in the Merdeka Belajar Concept. This chapter contains subchapters which become the answer of the problem formulation stated in chapter one.

4.1 SOLE Teaching Strategy

Learning is no longer seen solely as a process of the transfer of knowledge from a teacher to the students. Learning is making experience while personally constructing meaning through interactions. It is the teachers who helps the students to learn by providing necessary knowledge, facilities and conditions that support them in order to build concepts and understanding of the topic independently and actively (Esteban & Peart, 2014).

SOLE is a concept which was developed by Sugata Mitra and the researchers at the SOLE Centre in Newcastle University. This concept was initially based upon Sugata Mitra's Hole-in-the-Wall project where he experimented the impact of a free-to-use computer, connected to the internet, which is embedded into a wall in a village with a height where it will be convenient to use by 8-13 year olds. In this experiment, which was conducted for more than 5 years in India, native Indian children are able to operate a computer, which operates in English, in a short amount of time whilst learning the English language. This experiment was conducted in the rural villages of India which resulted in a significant improvement

on the children's academic achievement. Some of the results of the following research are from several different studies quoted by Mitra et al., (2005).

The teacher's role as a facilitator will only observe and supervises the students in the learning process. The students are encouraged to work together to answer questions using the internet. During the process, the students will be preoccupied by self-discovery, sharing their knowledge in a community, and spontaneity in what Mitra (2012) explained as 'learning in the edge of chaos'.

The introduction of SOLE in India's rural villages improved the comprehension of the children's English language. The children explored the device provided by Sugata Mitra in his Hole-in-the-Wall project as a mystery device that performs magnificent tricks which intrigued the student's curiosity. The students were also trying to control the chaotic learning environment where all of the children wanted to try the little device while trying to solve the question given by Mitra (2014) himself. This type of engagement proved to be effective to activate the learning mode of the students through this project.

Upon these significant improvement, there is a possibility to implement the SOLE concept in Indonesia to shift its teaching paradigm from a teacher-centered learning towards a student-centered learning effectively. Since modern day technology is becoming more accessible, it would benefit the children of the rural areas in Indonesia to positively explore the encyclopedia of knowledge from the internet in a regulated manner that is facilitated by a teacher. The process of teaching and learning in this SOLE concept can be applied as a teaching approach

to commodify the theoretical knowledge into a learning experience in the field of English Language Teaching. Through this approach, the learners will be immersed into the problem at hand with access to the sea of information in the internet - that is relevant to the subject - to solve that problem. Thus, the learners are directly engaged and exposed towards resources in English and try to break the language barrier. This can increase the children's immersive engagement in technologies as a learning media for their investment in the future.

4.2 Merdeka Belajar

Merdeka Belajar is a concept that needs to be tread carefully in order to direct the discussion objectively. Recent issues of the Merdeka Belajar topic in Indonesia are heating up an argument that this concept is not fit to be implemented in Indonesia based on the public views on the execution of the new education policy, which is the implementation of Merdeka Belajar by the new appointed Minister of Education and Culture (MOEC), Nadiem Makarim. However, the concept of Merdeka Belajar is not a very recent phenomenon. Najelaa Shihab has coined this term earlier in 2017 along with the publication of her book 'Merdeka Belajar di Ruang Kelas'. This book was also co-authored by the members of the Teachers Learning Community (Komunitas Guru Belajar) that Najelaa Shihab has founded on 2014. Unexpectedly, this concept of Merdeka Belajar has some connection with what has Ki Hajar Dewantara envisioned in his concept of Taman Siswa since around the 1920's (Abidah et al., 2020). Much later on, prominent education researchers and psychologists such as John Dewey, Maria Montessori and Carl Rogers has somewhat advocated the idea of self-directed learning (Gerstein, 2018). In this case, *Merdeka Belajar*. However, we will be discussing more on Carl Rogers and Ki Hajar Dewantara to explain the basis of the *Merdeka Belajar* Concept. Upon the complexity of the views on this *Merdeka Belajar* concept, the authors will discuss this concept into two parts: (1) the general concept and philosophy of *Merdeka Belajar*; (2) the emergence of *Merdeka Belajar* in Indonesia.

4.2.1 The General Concept and Philosophy of Merdeka Belajar

Merdeka Belajar is a term to describe a condition or a state where a learner or a person to be fully independent with his/her own initiative to learn without being shackled by any external or internal entities inhibiting their willingness to learn (Abidah et al., 2020). Merdeka Belajar literally means, Freedom of Learning. The main idea behind freedom of learning is to give the learners the freedom to learn without any force or factors that could hamper their motivation to learn. Their motivation to learn derives from their freedom of choice to learn. Which means, the condition for the learning process to happen is the learners' consent in acquiring the knowledge. This consent could not exist without the internal motivation that drives the learners to learn or acquire any knowledge. This concept of Merdeka Belajar or Freedom of Learning is similar to what Carl Rogers has conceptualized in his book "Freedom to Learn: A View of What Education Might Be" that was published in 1969. In that book, the experiment involving "work contracts" with the 6th grade students – that was experimented by Barbara J. Shiel – is similar, in a sense, asking for the consent of the students to learn. In this work contract experiment, the students were given the freedom to choose on how they were going to plan their learning for every subject. They were free to learn or work on their project at their own pace. This experiment also involved sequential learning, especially in math, to master any skills needed before proceeding to a next level of learning. When the learners were ready to move on, they have the freedom to do so. The learners set their own pace and began at their own level. Hence, they could go on as far as they were self-motivated to go (Miller, 1970; Rogers, 1969; Weibell, 2011). Carl Rogers (1969) – as he has observed this project – further described how the seeds of motivation in learning germinated the creative minds of the children which has branched their way of creativity to different areas of subject. But most importantly, Rogers (1969) described how this manifested initiative and self-responsibility behavior among the children.

The experiment of the work contract that was initiated by Barbara J. Shiel did not only bring her a closer relationship towards her students, it also create a more independent and enthusiastic children who are very keen in learning. The way she directs or facilitate her students is actually teaching them 'how to learn' and not only 'what to learn'. The students were taught on how to construct their own foundation of knowledge (Gerstein, 2018; Rogers, 1969; Weibell, 2011). Rogers (1969) accounted that Barbara J. Shiel has encouraged her students to perform selfevaluation to evaluate their learning process. This self-evaluation is a way where students can be proud of their own achievements during the learning process and it will encourage them to do better if they have made any mistakes. The children's process of learning and self-evaluation would also encourage them to do more as they have made new discoveries. This evaluation can be done as many times as they want to. This is also a way for the students to contemplate on their milestone of their process in learning. The teacher will also discuss with the students on the result of their self-evaluation (Rogers, 1969). This then brings us towards the Constructivists theory, which was shaped by John Dewey, where it is the learners that makes meaning towards their own experience to understand or to learn something (Henson, 2003). This constructivism approach are encouraging the students to take charge of their learning as well as implementing self-evaluation or self-reflection. Self-evaluation and self-criticism in freedom to learn is the basic principle to facilitate the learning process towards independence, creativity and reliance of the learners, whereas evaluation by others is of the secondary importance (Weibell, 2011). Interestingly, Rogers (1969) accounted that if self-evaluation is promoted, then there will be no cheating since there will be no need of cheating to achieve success. Moreover, this will create a perspective in the students that making mistakes is part of the learning process and that will only encourage them to perform better.

This then brings us towards a conclusion that freedom in learning can create a more responsible and accountable behavior in children that could be capable of self-discipline. If freedom of learning is fulfilled, there would be a possibility of an independent school or a free school that is free from authoritarian control or boundaries that controls the children's interest with definite scoring systems and exclusiveness of intelligent groups among their peers. Hence, an independent school or a free school can be inclusive towards every student, and teachers are able to be creative in educating their students with passion and enthusiasm where the children are driven by their internal motivation to learn and the teachers are driven by their passion to teach, learn, develop, and anticipate new discoveries of their students' process in learning. With freedom in learning, the teachers and students will become 'independent learners' capable of 'independent learning' in an 'independent school' free from antagonizing regulations and politics that hampers creativity and forced interest in the process of learning.

After reading Razzak's (2020) study on Paulo Freire's critical and dialogic pedagogy, there is a connection between Najeela Shihab's *Merdeka Belajar*, Carl Roger's Freedom to Learn and Paulo Freire's Critical Pedagogy. *Merdeka Belajar* has an approximately similar concept to what Paulo Freire has envisioned in a free school. Razzak (2020) has pointed out one of Freire's main premises of his Critical Pedagogy concept on man and freedom. He says:

"... people are fully human when they are free, meaning when they can choose out of their own will and can express themselves. The opposite of this state is what Freire considers as oppression and dehumanization. Oppression is a tense relationship between two parties: the oppressor and the oppressed and Freire originally took tension between them from Georg Wilhelm Friedrich Hegel's master versus slave dialectic."

The implication of the text above is explaining Freire's opposition against oppression and objective exploitation of another human. Razzak (2020) then further explained Freire's reference on students that if they are dehumanized, they are in an oppressive state where they conformed and bonded with the 'culture of silence'. In this state of silence which has been cultured into the students (the oppressed), by the teachers (the oppressor), will create fear of embracing opportunities at freedom, due to always having the shadow of the oppressor being casted upon them. Being deprived of freedom will reap the student's inability in creativity and causing them to make constructs of reality which will not be according to how they see or understand inside their heads. In other words, the students are afraid of mistakes and making mistakes, because they are afraid of the figure of the oppressor (the teacher) where they have to follow their guidelines imposed upon them. The students are afraid to replace the image imposed by the oppressor with something as unfamiliar as liberty and responsibility that comes upon it (Razzak, 2020). Teachers as well experience this when they are imposed with difficult regulations and demands from the government or the school to have a multiple role in education as well as administration and business. In response to this, Professor Brookfield, in Brookfield, Rudolph, & Zhiwei (2019), has stated that teachers are within institutional constraints. This response was based on Freire's statement that teachers are in the system but they are not of the system. Therefore, frequently teachers are testing their students not to help the students but to help the employing or sponsoring agency. Otherwise, if testing is not to help the employing agency, then testing would not be standardized and treated as a grading system for products while the failed products are disposed of or sold for cheap. Professor Brookfield further stressed on the educator's responsibility towards the students and the problem faced by educators, he says in Brookfield et al., (2019):

"An educator's responsibility is to the student, not to the employing agency, and an educator's responsibility is to understand the internal dynamics of learning, and having that be the logic that drives your actions. Rather than the logic of institutional need. And we're often caught in between the two."

Apart from that, teachers are also experiencing constant fear in losing their freedom and power to be in control and to oppress. Therefore, what Freire has proposed is through dialogue in the teaching and learning context through what he called as 'problem-posing education' (Razzak, 2020). This is what the two-way

communication in a student-centered learning environment would look like in a free school. An environment where the students are in control of their learning and the teachers as their facilitators, building an understanding between their roles as the students or learners who are in charge of what they will learn and the teachers will provide the knowledge and needs as their facilitators and learners who will always develop their quality of knowledge and teaching. In order to realize this, the teachers and the students have to confront the reality surrounding themselves in their learning environment and acting upon it in the way one chooses, meaning in a way that represents one's own subjectivity. This type of freedom is what pushes students to be describing content, defining and personalizing problems, asking questions, and discussing problems and the alternative solutions of those problems. Both the teachers and the students should be involved in listening, naming reality, and experiencing transformation by which they are in a state of critical consciousness and are empowered (Razzak, 2020). In this kind of state is what in a Freirean term is called as "conscientization" where the teacher and the students are both in a state of critically aware of their realities, attitudes, and beliefs and also have a greater capacity to make transformations in them. This state is what truly means to have freedom and democracy on the education process where the students are bonded with the teacher. Hence, the teacher and the students are both respectable to each other and are able to maintain a good relationship through understanding each of their realities. This kind of relationship will liquidate their communication and will facilitate the curiosity of the students where they could no longer hesitate to ask and experiment.

Much earlier, Ki Hajar Dewantara has already conceptualized what seems to be Merdeka Belajar through his education concept of Taman Siswa School. In his Taman Siswa education concept, there are five principles that has become its basic foundation, which are: Natural Destiny (Kodrat Alam), Freedom (Kemerdekaan), Cultural Bases (Kebudayaan), Nationality (Kebangsaan), and Humanity (Kemanusiaan). These five principles are what Ki Hajar Dewantara conceptualized as *Panca Dharma* which has become the principles that has been adopted from the seven foundations of the 1922 Establishment Charter of Taman Siswa (Dewantara, 1967; Towaf, 2016; Yanuarti, 2017). This Panca Dharma was also formulated to be used and adjusted based upon Ki Hajar Dewantara's 'Among System' which gave birth to the three principles that were also part of his motto for Taman Siswa, namely: Ing Ngarso Sung Tuladha ((for those) in front should set an example), Ing Madya Mangun Karso ((for those) in the middle should raise the spirit), and Tut Wuri Handayani ((for those) behind should give encouragement). The Among System is a system where teachers are the caregivers or facilitators (Pamong) of their students who are also their foster children (Momongan) (Dewantara, 1967; Towaf, 2016). Among means upbringing or care and protection by their *Pamong* through joy and sorrow by giving freedom to their *Momongan* to freely express themselves according to their wishes. However, even though the children are given freedom to act as they wish in the Among System, the Pamong are responsible to guide the children to the right path in learning.

From the explanation above, it is clear that there is a similarity in Ki Hajar Dewantara's *Among* System with Carl Roger's Freedom to Learn, Barbara J. Shiel's work contract experiment, and Paulo Freire's Critical Pedagogy. All these concepts are similarly to what we can call as '*Merdeka Belajar*', because they all have something in common, which is giving freedom to the teachers to teach and allowing the learners to learn and grow together. However, the *Merdeka Belajar* which was conceptualized by Najeela Shihab would have a different approach to education when compared to the previous concepts or ideas of '*Merdeka Belajar*'.

4.2.2 The Emergence of Merdeka Belajar in Indonesia

The progression of Indonesia's education system is very dynamic. Almost every new appointed minister of education would tend to reform the education curriculum and bring new ideas and policies towards the education system, while its pattern remains stagnant (Shihab & *Komunitas Guru Belajar*, 2017). It is mostly a top-down approach towards the education institutions, from the primary years up to the university education. Any government's policy on education obliged schools to comply with the regulations and practices that are imposed upon them in order to be nationally recognized. The reason as to why the government are dictating how education institutions should work in every single detail is to reach the national goal in education (Republik Indonesia, 1989). This top-down approach in enforcing regulations, strict policies and instructions to reach the national standard of learning has forced the teachers to rush the learning process of their students. Students that gets left behind are then unmotivated to learn as this rushed learning process are making learning less enjoyable (Shihab & *Komunitas Guru Belajar*, 2017). However, recently the education system in Indonesia are experiencing a liberation towards this top-down approach by the government's own initiative through its *Merdeka Belajar* Education Policy.

The concept of *Merdeka Belajar* was initially pioneered by Najelaa Shihab along with the establishment of the Teachers Learning Community (*Komunitas Guru Belajar*) since 2014 and she officially launched her book "*Merdeka Belajar di Ruang Kelas*" on 2017, which was also co-authored by her members of the Teachers Learning Community (*Komunitas Guru Belajar*). The idea of *Merdeka Belajar* was later on popularized by Indonesia's new Minister of Education and Culture (MOEC), Nadiem Makarim, on 2019 to be implemented into Indonesia's education system as a new national education policy. This *Merdeka Belajar* Education Policy by Nadiem Makarim revolves around 4 pillars that are foundational for the breakthrough of the "*Merdeka Belajar*" Concept, which are; the replacement of National Standard School Examinations (USBN) with the decentralized individual school assessment, the termination of National Examinations (UN), the simplification of the Lesson Plan (RPP), and the Zoning Regulations for New Students Acceptance (PPDB) (*Kemendikbud &* Tohir, 2019).

On the other hand, the *Merdeka Belajar* Concept by Najelaa Shihab and the Teachers Learning Community (*Komunitas Guru Belajar*) are initially more towards the bottom-up approach, outreaching community of teachers and empowering them to be accepting of their vulnerabilities and motivating them to learn as well as innovate teaching practices that are more suited towards the learning style of their own students. The implication of the concept of *Merdeka Belajar* is very versatile as it focuses on innovation and peer-to-peer sharing of their teaching

practices among teachers. However, this versatility cannot compromise the three principles that are essential for the *Merdeka Belajar* Concept – that was brought by Najelaa Shihab and the Teachers Learning Community – which are; Commitment, Independence (*Mandiri*) and Reflection. These three essential principles in the *Merdeka Belajar* concept are the key for teachers in unlocking the student's enthusiasm and desire to learn by giving them the freedom and the courage to dream as well as inspiring them to have the freedom to explore the world (Shihab & *Komunitas Guru Belajar*, 2017).

Here we can understand that there is a different view of perspective on the *Merdeka Belajar* concept between Najelaa Shihab and Nadiem Makarim. The *Merdeka Belajar* Concept that was pioneered by Najelaa Shihab and the Teachers Learning Community is more towards the emancipation of teachers to be freed of the strict regulation of the government, while the *Merdeka Belajar* which was advocated by Nadiem Makarim is more towards educational policy to empower educators and teachers the freedom to teach as how they deem fit for their school and their students. Even though there are differences in perspective on the *Merdeka Belajar* Concept between these two public figures, their ideas are complimentary to one another. There are still possibilities in how the *Merdeka Belajar* Educational Policy would develop in the future as this Policy is the highlight program of the current MOEC. In regards to the *Merdeka Belajar* concept by Najeela Shihab, this concept also keeps developing as its principle is mainly freedom, versatility and innovation in the teaching style for teachers. However, the *Merdeka Belajar* that was conceptualized by Najeela Shihab has a much longer history compared to the

Merdeka Belajar Education Policy. Even though freedom and innovation is advocated in Najeela Shihab's concept of *Merdeka Belajar*, the three essential principles of her *Merdeka Belajar* concept (Commitment, Independence, and Reflection) could not be compromised.

4.3 Motivation in Language Learning

Language is an integral part of growth and experience as well as an essential means of communication. Gardner (2007) often associate the growth and experience in acquiring a language with motivation. He believes that motivation is inherent in language learning and an essential element in language acquisition. Although, according to Krashen (1981), there are differences in language learning and language acquisition, Gardner (2007) view these definitions as a process where learning and acquisition are the same but of different stages. It means that language acquisition requires language learning. In order to acquire a language, a learner ought to learn the components of the language before getting into its context, because language acquisition is making the language part of the self by understanding the contexts of the language. In order to do that, it requires 'input' where it can be sought out through learning. Nevertheless, motivation plays a significant role in acquiring a language. It is through motivation that a learner could jump from learning a language to acquiring a language (Al Rifai, 2010; Gardner, 2007).

In the theory of Second Language Acquisition, language input is essential to achieve proficiency and competence in the targeted Second Language (Ellis, 1989; Gass & Selinker, 2008; Krashen, 1981, 1982). Khan (2012) stated that second

language acquisition/learning will improve drastically if the learners experience more second language input. He defined second language input as second language 'exposure'. From his observations, he found out that learners in Pakistan who experience more second-language 'exposure' in a conducive environment would commit less number of errors and mistakes in production or outcomes. Khan (2012) disclosed that despite Pakistan being an English Second-Language speaking country, there are still learners who are not accustomed in Second English Language. There are still schools that hampers the English input or exposure towards their students which in turn does not help their students to improve or acquire English as their second language. No matter how well the English language exposure is in an environment, English Second-language Acquisition could not be achieved if there is no willingness or motivation to learn nor exposure towards the second language. Krashen (1981) explains this phenomenon as the Affective Filter hypothesis where there are parameters of the affect that influence a learner's ability in absorbing the language input. The parameters of the affect that affects a learner's language input are their levels of motivation, self-confidence, and anxiety (Krashen, 1982).

According to W. E. Lambert (1955; 1956a, b, c) in Gardner (2007), learning vocabulary is the most basic foundation for language learning. In his research, he found out that learners need to experience the learning phase before acquiring the language. He named these phases as clusters which are the Vocabulary Cluster and the Cultural Cluster. From here, Gardner (2007) expanded Lambert's findings and formulated a four-stage model of second language acquisition and development.

Gardner (2007) explained the process of language acquisition into four distinctive stages where he explained how the process of learning and acquisition takes place and how it correlates in language learning motivation and classroom learning motivation.

The stages of language acquisition, according to Gardner (2007), is Elemental, Consolidation, Conscious Expression, and Automaticity and Thought. The first phase is the Elemental stage where a learner is learning the basics of the language such as vocabulary, grammar, pronunciations, etc. (similar to Lambert's term as the Vocabulary Cluster). In this stage, a learner learns new words, putting the words together, mispronounces some words and corrects them later, etc.... A pattern in which is found in how toddlers acquire language in their early years. The next stage is the Consolidation phase, a process where a learner starts to form some sort of familiarity with the language where they start to recognize that language is a system where some elements are correct and others are incorrect, develop rules for pluralization, sentence structure, and the understanding of idioms, etc. This pattern can be seen in second language students where they start to recognize and familiarize that some words and sentences are relatable to their native language. The third stage is the Conscious Expression where a learner can use the language consciously with a great deal of effort. Here, the learners are able to articulate their thoughts and ideas in their second language, but there can be found some speechhesitations such as um, er, uh, where the learner is actively searching for the right words of form of expression. The fourth stage is the Automaticity and Thought, a stage where thought and language merge and communication in the second language becomes automatic in most contexts. This stage represents Lambert's cultural cluster, a phase where language and the self becomes interconnected. A phase where a learner no longer thinks about the language, but thinks in the language (Gardner, 2007).

The stages above can be easily phased through motivation. A transition that depends on the levels of motivation and the learners own initiative to learn the second language. In learning a language, Gardner (2007) observed that there are two motivational constructs that has to be considered. He believes that there are distinctions between language learning motivation and classroom learning motivation. One is stable and constant form of motivation and the other is a situational and medium level type of operation in motivation. They operate on an individual at any given time. Gardner (2007) explained that knowing this is meaningful to consider in order to understand how a learner learns or acquire a language.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSION AND SUGGESTION

In this chapter, there are two points that will be explained, they are the conclusion and suggestion from the study.

5.1 Conclusion

The versatility of Merdeka Belajar that has been conceptualized by Najeela Shihab has potential in accommodating the SOLE Teaching Strategy. Since both concept accommodates the idea of Constructivism, therefore it will have the potential to create a new teaching paradigm that is suitable for accommodating the 21st century skills. In terms of English Language Teaching, Merdeka Belajar and SOLE has the potential to incite motivation into the learners and drive them to apply the English Language into the SOLE Sessions.

5.2 Suggestion

Since this is just a conceptual study, therefore further research must be conducted in order to test its effectiveness. This concept is still new and therefore there are room for improvement and adjustment. For instance, determining the SOLE Questions suitable for ELT and a more suitable SOLE Session for ELT.

REFERENCES

- Abidah, A., Hidaayatullaah, H. N., Simamora, R. M., Fehabutar, D., & Mutakinati, L. (2020). The Impact of Covid-19 to Indonesian Education and Its Relation to the Philosophy of "Merdeka Belajar." *Studies in Philosophy of Science and Education*, 1(1), 38–49. https://doi.org/10.46627/sipose.v1i1.9
- Al Rifai, N. (2010). Attitude, motivation, and difficulties involved in learning the English language and factors that affect motivation in learning it. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2(2), 5216–5227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.03.849
- Alwasilah, A. C. (2013). Policy on Foreign Language Education in Indonesia. *International Journal of Education*, 7(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.17509/ije.v7i1.5302
- Anderson, R. (2014). *Making Education Work: A Report From an Independent Advisory Group.* London: Pearson Education. Retrieved from http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/292197
- Anis, M., & Anwar, C. (2020). Self-organized learning environment teaching strategy for ELT in Merdeka Belajar concept for high school students in Indonesia. *JEES (Journal of English Educators Society)*, 5(2), 199–204. https://doi.org/10.21070/jees.v5i2.869
- Autor, D., & Salomons, A. (2018). IS AUTOMATION LABOR-DISPLACING? PRODUCTIVITY GROWTH, EMPLOYMENT, AND THE LABOR SHARE (NBER WORKING PAPER SERIES No. 24871). Cambridge. Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w24871
- Bartodziej, C. J. (2017). The Concept Industry 4.0: An Empirical Analysis of Technologies and Applications in Production Logistics. Berlin, Germany: Springer Gabler. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-16502-4
- Bieswanger, M. (2008). Varieties of English in current English language teaching. Stellenbosch Papers in Linguistics, 38, 27–47. https://doi.org/10.5774/38-0-21
- Brookfield, S. D., Rudolph, J., & Zhiwei, E. Y. (2019). The power of critical thinking in learning and teaching. An interview with Professor Stephen D. Brookfield. *Journal of Applied Learning & Teaching*, 2(2), 76–90. https://doi.org/10.37074/jalt.2019.2.2.11
- Cenoz, J., & Gorter, D. (2013). Towards a Plurilingual Approach in English Language Teaching : Softening the Boundaries Between Languages. *TESOL Quarterly*, 47(3), 591–599. https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.121
- Cromer, D. E. (1991). English: The Lingua Franca of International Scientific Communication. *English, Science & Technology Libraries*, *12*(1), 21–34. https://doi.org/10.1300/J122v12n01

- Cummins, J., & Davison, C. (Eds.). (2007). *INTERNATIONAL HANDBOOK OF* ENGLISH LANGUAGE TEACHING: PART I. New York: Springer.
- Dangwal, R., & Kapur, P. (2008). Children's learning processes using unsupervised "hole in the wall" computers in shared public spaces. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 24(3), 339–354. Retrieved from https://ajet.org.au/index.php/AJET/article/download/1213/440/
- Dangwal, R., Sharma, K., & Hazarika, S. (2014). Hole-in-the-Wall learning stations and academic performance among rural children in India. *Journal for Multicultural Education*, 8(1), 31–53. https://doi.org/10.1108/JME-03-2013-0006
- Dangwal, R., & Thounaojam, M. (2011). Self Regulatory Behaviour and Minimally Invasive (MIE) Education: A Case study in the Indian Context. International Journal of Education and Development Using ICT (IJEDICT), 7(1), 120–140. Retrieved from http://ijedict.dec.uwi.edu//viewarticle.php?id=1246
- DeBoer, J. (2009). The relationship between environmental factors and usage behaviors at 'Hole-in-the-wall' computers. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 29, 91–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2008.02.005
- Dede, C. (2009). Comparing Frameworks for 21st Century Skills. In 21st century skills: Rethinking how students learn (pp. 1–16).
- Dewantara, K. H. (1967). Some Aspects of National Education and the Taman Siswa Institute of Jogjakarta. *Indonesia*, 4(4), 150–168. https://doi.org/10.2307/3350909
- Elliott, R., & Timulak, L. (2005). Descriptive and interpretive approaches to qualitative research. In *A Handbook of Research Methods for Clinical and Health Psychology (DRAFT)* (pp. 147–160). New York: Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/med:psych/9780198527565.001.0001
- Ellis, R. (1989). Second Language Learning and Second Language Learners: Growth and Diversity. *TESL Canada Journal*, 7(1), 74. https://doi.org/10.18806/tesl.v7i1.562
- Esteban, P. G., & Peart, M. T. (2014). INTRODUCING SELF ORGANIZED LEARNING ENVIRONMENTS IN HIGHER EDUCATION AS A TOOL FOR LIFELONG LEARNING. *E-Learning and Intercultural Competences Development in Different Countries*, 413–422.
- Frey, C. B., & Osborne, M. A. (2013). The Future of Employment on Technology and Employment: How Susceptible are Jobs to Computerisation? (Oxford Martin Programme on Technology and Employment). Oxford. Retrieved from https://www.oxfordmartin.ox.ac.uk/downloads/academic/future-ofemployment.pdf

- Gardner, R. C. (2007). Motivation and Second Language Acquisition. *PORTA LINGUARUM*, 9–20. Retrieved from https://digibug.ugr.es/bitstream/handle/10481/31616/Gardner.pdf?sequence= 1&isAllowed=y
- Gass, S. M., & Selinker, L. (2008). *Second Language Acquisition: An Introductory Course* (Third Edit). New York: Routledge.
- Genç, B., & Bada, E. (2010). English as a World Language in Academic Writing. *The Reading Matrix*, *10*(2), 142–151.
- Gerstein, J. (2018). Five Elements Of Experiential Learning: A Summary Of 'Freedom To Learn.' Retrieved September 24, 2020, from https://www.teachthought.com/learning/a-summary-of-carl-rogers-freedomto-learn/
- Griffin, Patrick, & Care, E. (2015). The ATC21S Method. In Patrick Griffin & E. Care (Eds.), *Assessment and Teaching of 21st Century Skills* (pp. 3–33). Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9395-7
- Griffin, Patrick, Care, E., & McGaw, B. (2012). The Changing Role of Education and Schools. In P. Griffin, B. McGaw, & E. Care (Eds.), *Assessment and teaching of 21st century skills* (pp. 1–15). Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2324-5
- Harahap, N. (2014). Penelitian Kepustakaan. Iqra', 8(1), 68–73.
- Henson, K. T. (2003). FOUNDATIONS FOR LEARNER-CENTERED EDUCATION: A KNOWLEDGE BASE. *Education*, 124(1), 5–16.
- Inamdar, P. (2004). Computer skills development by children using "hole in the wall" facilities in rural India. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 20(3), 337–350. Retrieved from https://ajet.org.au/index.php/AJET/article/download/1351/721/
- Inamdar, P., & Kulkarni, A. (2007). 'Hole-In-The-Wall' Computer Kiosks Foster Mathematics Achievement - A comparative study. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 10(2), 170–179. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/jeductechsoci.10.2.170
- Kemendikbud, & Tohir, M. (2019). Empat Pokok Kebijakan Merdeka Belajar. Kementerian Pendidikan Dan Kebudayaan. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.17605/OSF.IO/8SNV2
- Khan, R. W. (2012). The Second Language Input Effects On Learners' Outcomes. The Islamia University of Bahawalpur. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Raj_Khan7/publication/324775294_The Second Language_Input_Effects_On_Learners_'outcomes_THE_SECON D_LANGUAGE_INPUT_EFFECTS_ON_LEARNERS'OUTCOMES_Sub mitted_By_Supervised_By/links/5ae1b80b458515c60f668ebd/The-Second-Langua

- Khansir, A. A. (2013). Applied linguistics and english language teaching. *Middle East Journal of Scientific Research*, 15(8), 1140–1146. https://doi.org/10.5829/idosi.mejsr.2013.15.8.11238
- Khatibah. (2011). Penelitian Kepustakaan. Iqra, 05(01), 36–39.
- Krashen, S. D. (1981). Second Language Acquisition and Second Language Learning. Oxford: Pergamon Press Inc.
- Krashen, S. D. (1982). Principles and Practice in Second Language Acquisition (Vol. 46). Oxford: Pergamon Press Inc.
- Larson, L. C., & Miller, T. N. (2011). 21st Century Skills: Prepare Students for the Future. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 47(3), 121–123. https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2011.10516575
- Lauder, A. (2008). the Status and Function of English in Indonesia: a Review of Key Factors. *Makara Human Behavior Studies in Asia*, 12(1), 9–20. https://doi.org/10.7454/mssh.v12i1.128
- Lymperis, L. (2019). Self-organised learning: Empowering the most marginalised schools of rural Greece? *Journal of Applied Learning & Teaching*, 2(2), 9–16. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.37074/jalt.2019.2.2.2
- Mappiasse, S. S., & Bin Sihes, A. J. (2014). Evaluation of English as a Foreign Language and its Curriculum in Indonesia: A Review. *English Language Teaching*, 7(10), 113–122. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v7n10p113
- Maula, N. (2020). *KEPEMIMPINAN TRANSFORMASIONAL KEPALA* SEKOLAH DALAM MENINGKATKAN PRESTASI AKADEMIK SISWA DI SMA NEGERI 1 PAKEM, YOGYAKARTA. Universitas Negeri Yogyakarta.
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldana, J. (2014). *Qualitative Data Analysis:* A Methods Sourcebook (Third Edit). USA: SAGE Publications.
- Miller, J. P. (1970). Freedom to Learn by Carl R. Rogers. In *The School Review* (Vol. 78, pp. 591–596). The University of Chicago Press. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/1084098
- Mitra, S. (2000). Minimally Invasive Education for mass computer literacy. In *CRIDALA 2000 conference, Hong Kong* (pp. 21–25). Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.112.9984&rep=rep 1&type=pdf
- Mitra, S. (2005). Self organising systems for mass computer literacy : Findings from the ' hole in the wall ' experiments. *International Journal of Development Issues*, 4(1), 71–81. Retrieved from http://hole-in-thewall.com/docs/Paper06.pdf
- Mitra, S. (2012). Beyond the Hole in the Wall: Discover the Power of Self-Organized Learning Kindle Edition. TED Books. Retrieved from https://eprints.ncl.ac.uk/180343

- Mitra, S. (2013). Build a school in the cloud. TED2013. Retrieved from https://www.ted.com/talks/sugata_mitra_build_a_school_in_the_cloud?langu age=en
- Mitra, S. (2014). The future of schooling: Children and learning at the edge of chaos. *Prospects*, 44(4), 547–558. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11125-014-9327-9
- Mitra, S., & Crawley, E. (2014). Effectiveness of Self-Organised Learning by Children : Gateshead Experiments. *Journal of Education and Human Development*, 3(3), 79–88. https://doi.org/10.15640/jehd.v3n3a6
- Mitra, S., & Dangwal, R. (2010). Limits to self-organising systems of learning the Kalikuppam experiment. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 41(5), 672–688. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8535.2010.01077.x
- Mitra, S., Dangwal, R., Chatterjee, S., Jha, S., Bisht, R. S., & Kapur, P. (2005). Acquisition of computing literacy on shared public computers: Children and the "hole in the wall." *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 21(3), 407–426. https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.1328
- Mitra, S., James, T., Inamdar, P., & Dixon, P. (2003). Improving English Pronunciation: An Automated Instructional Approach. *Information Technologies & International Development*, 1(1), 75–84. Retrieved from https://itidjournal.org/index.php/itid/article/download/136/6
- Mitra, S., Kulkarni, S., & Stanfield, J. (2016). Learning at the Edge of Chaos: Self- Organising Systems in Education. In H. E. Lees & N. Noddings (Eds.), *The Palgrave International Handbook of Alternative Education* (pp. 227– 239). https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-41291-1_15
- Mitra, S., & Rana, V. (2001). Children and the Internet : Experiments with minimally invasive education in India. *The British Journal of Educational Technology*, *32*(2), 221–232.
- More, C. (2000). Understanding the Industrial Revolution. London: Routledge.
- Octaviyanti, C. K. (2017). CONFLICT RESOLUTION OF MRS. SHAILA BHAVE IN FIGHTING AGAINST DEEP GRIEF IN "THE MANAGEMENT OF GRIEF" SHORT STORY. Sultan Agung Islamic University.
- OECD. (2007). OECD Glossary of Statistical Terms. Paris: OECD. Retrieved from https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/download.asp
- Panjwani, A. (2017). Constructing Meaning: Designing Powerful Story-Making Explorations for Children to Express with Tangible Computational Media. In *Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Interaction Design and Children* (pp. 358–364). Stanford: Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3078072.3079723

Pew Research Center. (2018). Artificial Intelligence and the Future of Humans.

Retrieved from https://www.elon.edu/docs/e-

web/imagining/surveys/2018_survey/AI_and_the_Future_of_Humans_12_10_18.pdf

- Prayogi, M. D. (2019). STUDENTS' PERCEPTION TOWARDS NATIVE ENGLISH SPEAKING TEACHER (NEST) IN TEACHING LEARNING PROCESS (A Descriptive Study in the Eleventh Grade Students at SMK N 1 Demak in the Academic Year of 2018/2019). UNISSULA.
- Raco, J. R. (2010). *Metode penelitian kualitatif: jenis, karakteristik dan keunggulannya*. Jakarta: PT Grasindo.
- Razzak, N. A. (2020). Paulo Freire's critical and dialogic pedagogy and its implications for the Bahraini educational context. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 52(9), 999–1010. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2020.1716731
- Republik Indonesia. (1989). Undang-Undang Republik Indonesia Nomor 2 Tahun 1989 Tentang Sistem Pendidikan Nasional. *Mimbar Hukum*, (6). Retrieved from http://i-lib.ugm.ac.id/jurnal/detail.php?dataId=2710
- Rogers, C. R. (1969). *Freedom to learn; a view of what education might become*. Columbus, Ohio: Charles E. Merril.
- Rotherham, A. J., & Willingham, D. T. (2010). "21st-Century" Skills. AMERICAN EDUCATOR. Retrieved from https://dbweb01.aft.org/sites/default/files/periodicals/RotherhamWillingham. pdf
- Salim, & Syahrum. (2012). *Metodologi Penelitian Kualitatif: Konsep dan Aplikasi dalam Ilmu Sosial, Keagamaan dan Pendidikan*. (Haidir, Ed.). Bandung: Citapustaka Media.
- Shihab, N., & Komunitas Guru Belajar. (2017). *Merdeka Belajar di Ruang Kelas*. Tangerang Selatan: Literati & Kampus Guru Cikal.
- Sholichah, A. F. (2019). Pembelajaran Self-Organised Learning Environment (SOLE) dalam Penyelesaian Tugas di SMP Negeri 9 Semarang. Universitas Negeri Semarang. Retrieved from https://lib.unnes.ac.id/33343/
- Silva, E. (2009). Measuring Skills for 21st-Century Learning. *PHI DELTA KAPPAN*, 90(9), 630–634. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/27652741%0D
- Spitzer, D. R. (1975). What is a Concept? *Educational Technology*, *15*(7), 36–39. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/44418021.pdf
- Stanfield, J., & Unlu, V. (2016). Self-Organised Learning Environments (SOLEs) at International House, London: A Pilot Study. Retrieved from www.scribd.com/document/374849617/Self-Organised-Learning-Environments

Sulistiyo, U. (2015). *Improving English as a foreign language teacher education in Indonesia: The case of Jambi University*. RMIT University. Retrieved from

https://researchrepository.rmit.edu.au/view/delivery/61RMIT_INST/1224827 8590001341

- TED. (2013). Sugata Mitra creates a School in the Cloud. Retrieved from https://www.ted.com/participate/ted-prize/prize-winning-wishes/school-inthe-cloud
- Toffler, A. (1970). Future Shock. New York: Random House.
- Towaf, S. M. (2016). The National Heritage of Ki Hadjar Dewantara in Tamansiswa About Culture-Based Education and Learning. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(23), 167–176. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1112759.pdf
- Weibell, C. J. (2011). Principles of learning: 7 principles to guide personalized, student-centered learning in the technology-enhanced, blended learning environment. Brigham Young University. Retrieved from https://principlesoflearning.wordpress.com
- Weisblat, G. Z., & McClellan, J. (2017). The Disruptive Innovation of Self-Organized Learning Environments. *Childhood Education*, 93(4), 309–315. https://doi.org/10.1080/00094056.2017.1343584
- Weisblat, G. Z., Stiles, E. A., & McClellan, J. D. (2019). Does the Innovation Really Work? Effectiveness of self-organized learning environment (SOLE) in the classroom. *Childhood Education*, 95(2), 60–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/00094056.2019.1593762

Yanuarti, E. (2017). PEMIKIRAN PENDIDIKAN KI. HAJAR DEWANTARA DAN RELEVANSINYA DENGAN KURIKULUM 13. Jurnal Penelitian, 11(2), 237–266. Retrieved from https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/298614675.pdf